# LANCASHIRE COMBINED FIRE AUTHORITY

# PLANNING COMMITTEE

Monday, 15 November 2021, at 10.00 am in the Washington Hall, Service Training Centre, Euxton.

## MINUTES

# PRESENT:

## Councillors

G Mirfin (Chairman) S Clarke (Vice-Chair) M Dad N Hennessy J Hugo F Jackson D O'Toole J Shedwick J Singleton T Williams

## Officers

J Johnston, Chief Fire Officer (LFRS) S Healey, Deputy Chief Fire Officer (LFRS) B Norman, Assistant Chief Fire Officer (LFRS) B Warren, Director of People and Development (LFRS) M Hutton, Area Manager, Head of Prevention and Protection (LFRS) M Nolan, Clerk and Monitoring Officer to the Authority S Collinson, Head of Media and Communications (LFRS) D Brooks, Principal Member Services Officer (LFRS) L Barr, Member Services Officer (LFRS)

## 10-20/21 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

None received.

## 11-20/21 DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY AND NON-PECUNIARY INTERESTS

None received.

## 12-20/21 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

<u>RESOLVED</u>: - That the Minutes of the last meeting held on 12 July 2021 be confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

## 13-20/21 ANNUAL SERVICE REPORT

The Chief Fire Officer, Justin Johnston presented the report and an accompanying video.

The Annual Service Report (ASR) was produced annually by the Service as part of its accountability to measure progress against the items set out as deliverables as part of the Annual Service Plan 2020-2022 which were derived from the Integrated Risk Management Plan 2017-2022.

The last Annual Service Plan was produced in 2020 and had been extended to cover a two-year (2020-2022) period due to the Covid-19 pandemic changing organisational direction and priorities. During this time the Service diversified its offerings to support the local, regional, and national response.

The Annual Service Report as now considered by Members, reviewed progress through the 2020 - 2021 reporting year and highlighted the fantastic work that had been delivered in the face of a global crisis: -

## Making Lancashire safer during the Covid-19 pandemic

The Service played a central role in the response to the pandemic from an early stage, working as one team alongside partner agencies in the Lancashire Resilience Forum. Over 500 members of staff offered to carry out new activities delivering essential services.

The Service: i) visited over 1,400 vulnerable residents delivering interventions and welfare checks; ii) co-ordinated distribution of PPE supplies to health and social care settings across the county from the training centre; iii) provided P3 face mask fitting to hospital and social care workers; iv) supported the establishment of a temporary hospital and morgue; and v) trained 54 staff to assist with mass casualties.

The Service also adapted to support people in alternative ways including: i) donating 57 reconditioned iPads to hospitals and hospices for virtual visits; ii) creating digital fire safety education sessions when face-to-face engagement couldn't take place in schools; iii) launching a digital Prince's Trust programme for vulnerable young people who lost support and coping mechanisms during the pandemic; iv) with public events unable to take place and Bonfire Night presenting an increased risk of fires and injuries across the county with people holding celebrations at home, the Service worked with local authorities, Lancashire Police and North West Ambulance Service to carry out tactical prevention activity in communities and co-respond to incidents over the period; v) delivered digital Bright Sparx education sessions, designed to educate young people about bonfire and fireworks safety, to over 10,000 pupils; and vi) a public safety campaign encouraged people to enjoy the event in alternative ways, including watching a family fireworks display which was streamed online.

By Christmas 2020 attention turned to supporting local NHS services to establish vaccination centres. The Service led the sector taking on this role and: provided site management, marshalling, administration and logistics support to mass vaccination venues and community sites. Firefighters and support services staff worked at vaccination centres seven days a week: meeting and greeting patients, completing patient health checks, reassuring people as they prepared for the vaccine, helping clinical staff when needed, giving post vaccine support and administering vaccines directly to patients. By the end of March 2021, the Service had supported the delivery of 170,500 vaccinations, with 19,800 vaccines administered by staff. The Service continued to help to deliver Lancashire's vaccination programme and would continue to do so for as long as needed.

# Preventing fires and other emergencies from happening and protecting people and property when they do

A breakdown of prevention and protection activity showed there had been 17,334 incidents including 5,221 fires attended with an average of 7 minutes 40 seconds attendance time. There had been 869 accidental dwelling fires of which 2 people sadly lost their lives and there were 35 casualties reported. The majority, 95% of accidental dwelling fires were of a low or medium fire severity. In addition, the Service attended 38 missing person searches, 811 gaining entry to property incidents and 497 road traffic collisions. During the period 44 on-call firefighters were recruited, 11,903 HFSCs were delivered, 21,100 young people received prevention education, 5,957 people took part in road safety education, 63 fire safety enforcement notices were issued and 11 businesses were prohibited from operating.

#### Review of the Home Fire Safety Check

Extensive work with partners involved assessing the quality of Home Fire Safety Check (HFSC) referrals and providing feedback, establishing a focus group to improve communication and referral management and the design of a partnership cycle which enabled the maintenance of effective partner relations. An ongoing quality assurance process ensured appropriate referrals were received and identified any gaps. Improvements had been made to the HFSC re-visit policy, aligning it to the person and risk identified within the property, and the establishment of a seamless process when unable to contact someone. A trial with referring partners to increase the opportunity for successful contact which resulted in a visit was ongoing.

#### Embed Adverse Childhood Experience awareness

Adverse Childhood Experience (ACE) awareness toolbox talks had been held across the Service and an e-learning module released to the whole organisation. ACE awareness was now part of the wholetime firefighter recruits' course so, from the start of their careers new recruits learned about the impact of traumatic experiences in childhood on behaviour and how this related to community engagement.

#### Built Environment Assessment Team

The built environment assessment team was established to address the evolving risks posed by an increasingly complex built environment and the potential for buildings to perform unexpectedly in a fire, the team increased our knowledge and understanding of buildings in Lancashire. A series of recommendations to strengthen and improve core services across prevention, protection and operational response was currently being implemented within the Service.

#### Responding to fires and other emergencies quickly and competently

#### Strengthen operational assurance

There had been significant progress made in developing an assurance monitoring system (AMS), which was improving the way data was analysed, trends were identified and learning from exercises and incidents was applied. The AMS was enabling the Service to plan training more effectively and track actions robustly, including those related to national learning. The development included features, such as the automatic transfer of data from the incident debrief app and the ability to review key metrics on an intuitive dashboard. This automated end-to-end process was leading the way in the fire sector in terms of assuring safe and effective operations.

#### Respond to the impacts of climate change

The Service's commitment to reducing environmental impact recognised the reality of climate change and the carbon management plan contained a target to reduce carbon emissions by 40% by 2030. As part of an ongoing vehicle replacement programme, which had included a move away from diesel vehicles, the Service had introduced several hybrid blue light response cars into the fleet and planned to trial all-electric cars in prevention and protection services. During the year, there had been continued development of response capabilities in relation to the increasing impact climate change was having on certain incident types, particularly wildfires and flooding. Investment had been made in specialist equipment and highly trained people had been developed, such as wildfire tactical advisors and waste fire tactical advisors, to respond to and manage incidents at local and national levels. Tactical flood plans in known flood hot spots had greatly improved preparedness for dealing with flooding incidents effectively.

#### Optimise rota management

During 2020-21, a comprehensive trial was carried out to introduce several new processes designed to make detachment and overtime planning more efficient. This included a new staffing management app to advertise opportunities for people to cover shortfalls and maintain operational response arrangements and the procedure for identifying rota breaches and causes. Feedback and learning from the trial were being used to inform policies and the Service was working with its rota management provider to devise a more automated approach, further streamlining how staffing levels were managed across shift systems.

#### Replace incident command units and software

Work was ongoing with the incident command software. A supplementary document had been produced to describe in simplistic terms how the incident command worked, what was required and why. A further review of the whole project had been undertaken to broaden the scope to incorporate additional requirements that supported needs in relation to large scale incident management. This had included collaborative work to ensure a regional and consistent approach was taken in the procurement of command support resources and software.

#### Evaluate tools to strengthen our response

During 2020-21 a pre-alerting system, designed to reduce incident response times to wholetime and on-call fire stations was rolled out. As a result of findings during initial trials, a system had been created to fully assess each pre-alert and provide accurate reporting. This data showed that the system improved average reaction times across all duty systems by 55%. The improvement ranged from 26 seconds up to 1 minute and 31 seconds dependent on the shift system and time of day. All mobilisations were previously based on a standard delay that was appropriate to the shift system. The Service had now moved to a data-led, real-time response across all stations which would effectively mobilise the nearest and quickest asset for any specific incident type. The next step was to implement pre-alerting at stations with both wholetime and on-call appliances. The system was constantly under review to identify learning and improve processes.

# Valuing our people so they can focus on making Lancashire safer

<u>Develop a strong organisational culture based on values and well-being</u> A programme of work to develop an organisational culture that promoted a healthy state of well-being and truly represented the Service's STRIVE values: service, trust, respect, integrity, value and empowerment included:

- Planned leadership development events were moved online due to the Covid-19 pandemic, this led to identifying new ways of delivering future events. The events focused on the leadership framework within LFRS, the concept of psychoneuroimmunology, leadership styles, the importance of positive emotions at work, how to encourage engagement and innovation whilst building resilience and maintaining productivity;
- The Service's approach to talent management was developed and this was being rolled out across the Service. Promotion pathways were being reviewed to ensure that opportunities to identify and develop future leaders for the future were fully explored and utilised;
- Health and well-being support during 2020-21 principally focused on the impacts of Covid-19 and supporting staff through uncertain times. This included how to access urgent mental health support, supporting family and friends through the pandemic, how to apply a positive mindset, managing anxiety, well-being support for our Black, Asian and minority ethnic staff, coping with grief, and helping managers to support their staff.
- To embed revised performance management arrangements, briefing sessions continued to be delivered across the Service in relation to talent management and the importance of coaching and developmental feedback within the appraisal conversation. The appraisal process had been built within HR systems enabling more accurate reporting and accessible information to inform workforce planning.
- Promotion process policies and guidance had been merged into one holistic policy, making the communication of options and opportunities more straightforward, and shared across the organisation. The internal selection process for fire protection roles had been refined to ensure staff who wished to develop and work in this essential area were selected based on aptitude and suitability for the demanding specialism, rather than incident command skills which was historically the case.
- 360-degree assessments were delivered to all station managers and above to inform their personal development. This was now included as an element within supervisory and middle manager development programmes.
- The Service supported 36 operational members of staff to access the Institute of Leadership and Management (ILM) levels 3 and 6, and five business support staff had undertaken ILM levels 3 and 5, one via an apprenticeship. Three operational and two business support leaders had been supported to achieve Level 7 Strategic Leadership, with two people completing these through apprenticeships. External coaching was provided to 47 members of operational and non-operational staff.

# Promote equality, diversity, and inclusion within the Service

Recruiting, developing and retaining a workforce that is inclusive and more reflective of Lancashire's communities is central to serving our communities as effectively as we can.

- During the pandemic, community engagement was particularly focussed on Lancashire's BAME communities in Preston and East Lancashire. Local radio, targeted publications and online platforms and material in alternative languages were used by staff in those areas to help share critical health information and encourage vaccination take-up. Members of staff working in vaccination centres were able to correct misinformation and reassure people. We also worked with mosques to discuss fire safety and the need for updated fire risk assessments and fire drills when students returned to study. The Service's equality, diversity and inclusion employee voice groups steered this work, identifying needs and opportunities to improve engagement to help keep people safe.
- A trial of flexible annual leave arrangements began at Blackpool and South Shore fire stations, with all staff at those locations volunteering to participate. A mid-year evaluation had been completed and findings would be considered once the trial was complete.
- Face to face opportunities to engage with our diverse communities and promote opportunities to work for the Service was a challenge last year due to the pandemic. However, the recruitment approach was broadened through targeted online media, which proved successful in increasing the number of female applicants interested in joining the Service as an apprentice firefighter.

## Expand apprenticeship opportunities

The Service continued to offer firefighter apprenticeship courses throughout the pandemic to ensure the needs of the workforce profile were met. Development of apprenticeships remained a priority to ensure the most appropriate apprenticeship programmes were offered relative to the knowledge, skills and behaviours of those employed.

#### Upgrade fire station accommodation

South Shore fire station had been extended and work to improve accommodation and facilities completed, providing a positive working environment that enhanced health and wellbeing. Similar plans were in place to upgrade Blackpool and Hyndburn fire stations.

## Delivering value for money in how we use our resources

Invest in training and equipment

- Investment in a programme of significant, long-term improvements continued to ensure that our people had the best equipment and training available to deliver effective services now and in the future.
- Construction work was underway to expand the existing fleet garage and provide a purposely designed breathing apparatus training school at our training centre in Chorley, with completion expected in 2021-22.
- A review of drill tower provision across the Service had now been completed to produce a medium to long term replacement plan based on specialist skills and the condition of existing facilities. Implementation would start in 2021-22.
- Following extensive staff consultation and trials, the Service introduced new duty rig uniform for operational and business support staff purchased through regional collaborative procurement arrangements. More comfortable and practical trousers and new safety boots offered increased versatility to meet the needs of our activities (both emergency and non-emergency)
- Due to the need to rationalise on-vehicle technology and consider integrated

vehicle systems, plans to install CCTV on fire appliances were paused during 2020/21 while further exploration and analysis was undertaken. This had the potential to reduce the number of stand-alone vehicle systems, enabling remote monitoring of specific vehicle operations. As a result, and in collaboration with regional fire and rescue services and blue light partners, the Service was currently evaluating emerging cloud-based, in-vehicle technology with a view to integrating CCTV, telematics, and on-board diagnostics.

#### Collaborate with other public services

Covid-19 caused plans through the Blue Light Collaboration Board to be put on hold but presented new ways for the Service to diversify and work with partners to support the pandemic response in Lancashire, as noted in the Service's response to the pandemic discussed earlier.

#### Replace performance and analysis software

Initial plans to replace reporting software had developed due to technological advances. The project now included a wider range of key performance indicators across all areas of the Service, to enable more efficient and effective monitoring. The new requirements had been scoped and underpinning work to support the new developments was underway, with a view to delivering a phased approach over the next two years.

Members also noted the details of a number of significant, complex and demanding incidents which included multiple wildfires, widespread flooding and numerous large-scale fires attended during the period.

In response to a question raised by County Councillor Hennessy in relation to the review of the Home Fire Safety Check, as detailed on page 20 of the agenda pack Area Manager, Mark Hutton advised that the Service engaged extensively with 'preferred partners' who were organisations that already worked with people most at risk. Details of any vulnerable person would then automatically be referred to the Service to carry out a home fire safety check. He advised that circa 70% of referrals were those classed as at high or very high risk.

In response to questions raised by County Councillor Hennessy in relation to the response activity detailed on page 21 of the agenda pack, the Deputy Chief Fire Officer confirmed that part of the process to improve rota management included a new staffing management app which replaced a manual telephone system. The app advertised to staff opportunities to book onto shifts where there were shortfalls and thereby maintain operational response. The Deputy Chief Fire Officer also advised that work was ongoing to replace performance software to improve data quality to front line staff to assist to bring performance reports to the Performance Committee. Work was also ongoing that looked to tweak the key performance indicators, which would be brought back to relevant committees in due course.

County Councillor O'Toole expressed thanks to all staff for their hard work and dedication during such a difficult year.

<u>RESOLVED</u>: - That the Planning Committee noted and endorsed the Annual Service Report.

# 14-20/21 DRAFT COMMUNITY RISK MANAGEMENT PLAN (CRMP) 2022-2027 -CONSULTATION OUTCOMES

The Assistant Chief Fire Officer presented the report.

At the Planning Committee meeting of the Combined Fire Authority on 12 July 2021, Members endorsed the publication of the draft Community Risk Management Plan (CRMP) 2022 - 27 for consultation over a ten-week period from 14 July 2021 to 21 September 2021.

The consultation plan was created in line with the Service's consultation strategy and following an equality impact assessment of the impact of the draft CRMP on groups likely to be affected. The aim was to consult local communities and stakeholders about the risks in Lancashire to inform how the Service mitigated and responded to them and provide opportunities for stakeholders. Matters consulted on included: whether the plan identified the greatest risks to the communities and people of Lancashire; identified any unmet need; measures in place to mitigate and respond to risk; and the plan's overarching aim and priorities.

During the consultation period, the draft documents were made available on the Service's website together with an online survey. Printed copies were made available on request. Identified stakeholders included Service employees; local authorities; emergency services and other public agencies; town and parish councils; third sector partners such as voluntary groups and charities; businesses; representative bodies; landowners; community groups; and members of the public. Communications activity was tailored to target audiences and ranged from writing directly to partner organisations and staff engagement sessions to digital advertising and email marketing. Feedback was accepted via the online survey, by email and in comments on social media platforms.

Overall, the consultation feedback endorsed the draft CRMP, the Service's priorities and approach to community risks in Lancashire. Full details of the consultation feedback, process requirements and resulting amendments (which had been included in the proposed final version of the CRMP and attached as appendix 2) were now considered by Members.

Members were impressed with the format of the report and the draft CRMP. The Committee Chairman found the report fascinating and pertinent against the background of the recent global climate change discussions where, as Lancashire became hotter and wetter it was likely there would be more flooding, wildfire and water related incidents.

As part of the final recommendations to the full Combined Fire Authority meeting scheduled for 21 February 2022, Members agreed to include a data and digital strategy, which was currently being drafted.

## <u>RESOLVED</u>: - That the Committee:

- i) Endorsed the consultation process surrounding the draft Community Risk Management Plan (CRMP) 2022 - 27 as adequate in scale and scope; and
- ii) Referred final recommendations to the full Combined Fire Authority meeting of 21 February 2022 for approval to publish.

# 15-20/21 <u>AUTOMATIC FIRE ALARM ATTENDANCE POLICY - CONSULTATION</u> <u>REVIEW</u>

The Deputy Chief Fire Officer presented the report.

A recommendation made by the Performance Committee at its meeting on 17 March 2021 (resolution 45/19 refers) to remove attendance to Automatic Fire Alarms (AFA) at non-sleeping premises, unless presence of fire was confirmed, staged over two years; to be introduced during the day in year one and during the night from year two, was considered and approved for public and stakeholder consultation at full Fire Authority on 21 June 2021 (resolution 14-20/21 refers).

The resulting consultation commenced on 12 August 2021 and concluded on 21 September 2021. In accordance with standing terms of reference, the consultation outcomes and associated recommendations were brought back for consideration by the Planning Committee.

The report as now considered by Members summarised the consultation strategy, its outcomes, and policy development and implementation approach previously adopted elsewhere in the North West and nationally.

The recommendations related to the AFA attendance policy and the wider unwanted fire signals (UWFS) reduction benefits that could be achieved through the implementation campaign and associated improvements to the wider UWFS policy. All options proposed aligned with current National Fire Chiefs Council guidance.

It was noted that the report did not consider the broader issue of escalating alarms originating from Telecare systems in domestic dwellings. This would be considered separately through the creation of a specific policy in the 2022-23 LFRS Prevention Department Plan.

County Councillor O'Toole sought reassurance from Officers regarding the serious claims made by the FBU, as referred to in paragraphs 5 and 6 of their response to the consultation on page 151 of the agenda pack. In response the Chief Fire Officer advised that the comments did not seem to fit with areas both within the Community Risk Management Plan and AFA consultations regarding areas for change as neither made any staffing reductions.

The Chairman thought the data presented was very good and advised that if required further analysis of the free text could be possible to gain further insight into why people responded in the way they had.

<u>RESOLVED</u>: - That the following be recommended to the full Authority on 13 December 2021: -

- 1. Adopt a False Alarm Reduction and Emergency Call Management (ECM) policy already in use by one North West Fire and Rescue Service within North West Fire Control as the baseline for the revised LFRS approach;
- 2. Exempt Grade 1 and 2\* Heritage premises (\* subject to meeting specific criteria) from the non-attendance policy;
- 3. Exempt Primary and Secondary Education premises from the nonattendance policy;

- 4. Exempt premises with 'Enhanced Reliability Alarm Systems' from the nonattendance policy;
- 5. Undertake a three-month implementation phase to engage stakeholders, and launch the new policy from 1 April 2022;
- 6. Ensure Fire Alarm Monitoring Organisations sign up to refreshed 'call back' agreements;
- 7. Implement changes by day in year 1(Day 08:00hrs to 19:00hrs) and review thereafter.

## 16-20/21 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT OF RISK 2021/22

The Assistant Chief Fire Officer presented the report.

The Strategic Assessment of Risk (SAoR) was first published in 2016. It was updated each year and had been refreshed for the year 2021/22. It utilised data from the Incident Recording System which helped the identification of highest risk activities / incidents and was informed by the Lancashire Resilience Forum Community Risk Register.

The Strategic Assessment of Risk reflected the knowledge and experience of a variety of specialist departments and was consolidated each summer to allow for departmental plans to be produced and for the Service's annual planning day. The document supported the publication of the draft Community Risk Management Plan (CRMP) 2022/27 and moreover the draft Annual Service Plan 2022/23 by capturing the dynamic picture of the changing risk in Lancashire.

Risk in Lancashire would always remain dynamic; it changed over time, differed by area and demographic, and needed different interventions to reduce the likelihood of the risk occurring or to lessen its consequences. Through the risk management framework changing risk was constantly assessed and prioritised our response framework. A wider consultation had also taken place, involving District Councils, Lancashire County Council and Lancashire Constabulary, in order to gain a more complete collaborative picture of the perceived risk from the viewpoint of all organisations.

The 201/22 SAoR built on previous versions of the annual risk assessment methodology whereby each of the 32 incident types such as domestic fires, flooding and road traffic collisions had been quantified using a likelihood and consequence score. The likelihood element looked at the frequency of the incident type occurring within Lancashire utilising the incident data for the previous 3 years. The consequence score was determined by an average derived from seven categories, these being loss of life, injury, economic, environmental, societal, political and impact upon staff.

Maintaining a clear and current understanding of the risks that affected Lancashire's communities underpinned everything that the Service did; driving both governance and planning arrangements.

<u>RESOLVED</u>: - That the Planning Committee noted and endorsed the Strategic Assessment of Risk 2021/22.

## 17-20/21 PREVENTION, PROTECTION, RESPONSE STRATEGIES

The Assistant Chief Fire Officer presented the report.

Fire and Rescue Authorities (FRAs) were required by the National Framework to produce a local Community Risk Management Plan that set out the Authority's strategy, in collaboration with other agencies, for reducing the commercial, economic, and social impact of fires and other emergency incidents. This report detailed how the Community Risk Management Plan 2022-27 had been drafted to include 5 underpinning strategies providing a greater level of detail:

- 1. Prevention strategy- preventing- fires and other emergencies from happening;
- 2. Protection strategy- protecting people and property when they happen;
- 3. Response strategy- responding to fires and other emergencies quickly and competently;
- 4. People strategy- valuing our people so they can focus on Making Lancashire safer;
- 5. Finance strategy- delivering value for money in and how we use our resources.

Whilst there were 5 key Strategies within the draft Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2027, this report provided detail with regards to:

- i) Prevention Strategy, preventing fires and other emergencies from happening;
- ii) Protection Strategy, protecting people and property when they happen, and;
- iii) Response Strategy, responding to fires and other emergencies quickly and competently, appendices 1-3 as now considered by Members.

The People Strategy which sought to recruit and deliver a workforce which was resilient, highly skilled, flexible, diverse and which could deliver the Service's aim of keeping the people of Lancashire safer would be presented to Resources Committee in December 2021 for review and approval.

The Finance Strategy provided details with regards to revenue, capital and reserves and balances; this would be presented to the Combined Fire Authority meeting in February 2022 for the review and approval.

As mentioned earlier on the agenda the addition of a Data and Digital Strategy was currently be drafted for inclusion. This would also be brought to the CFA meeting in February 2022.

<u>RESOLVED</u>: - That the Committee noted the 6 key strategies that underpinned the draft CRMP 2022-2027 and approved the Prevention, Protection and Response Strategies.

#### 18-20/21 SUB 18M HIGH RISE RESIDENTIAL UPDATE

The report, presented by the Assistant Chief Fire Officer, responded to a question raised by the Committee Chairman at the Planning Committee meeting held 12 July 2021 on 'whether mid to high-rise buildings were in the same position as high-rise buildings?'. It was noted that the fire safety guidance and legislation had evolved and changed significantly since the Grenfell tragedy and that it continued to do so at pace.

This report provided an overview of how the legislation and associated guidance had evolved and how this related to Lancashire Fire and Rescue Service's (LFRS) increasing duties as the Enforcing Authority for the Fire Safety Order 2005, Fire Safety Bill 2021, and Building Safety Bill (Draft). It was likely that there were sub 18m residential premises with external wall systems that had flammability performance which would not be acceptable if they had floors over 18m. Government guidance, and thus regulatory capability to address such issues (by any regulator) had evolved significantly in recent months away from a default inference to remove and remediate the cladding (the inferred position immediately post Grenfell) towards a much greater emphasis on proportionality, accepting a limited degree of flammability, and adopting risk assessed approaches.

It was vital that the Service had clear and unambiguous national guidance to follow so that when enforcement powers relating to external wall systems were conferred upon Fire and Rescue Service's [in October 2021] by virtue of the Fire Safety Bill, the Service (and Fire Authority) were first and foremost able to 'make Lancashire Safer', but also in doing so were able to discharge legal responsibilities in a manner that matched national expectation, did not cause unjustifiable duress to leaseholders, and did not lead to enforcement action being successfully appealed in a manner that might impact significantly on the physical and financial resources of the Authority.

It was noted that the report did not detail the wider regulatory and resource issues concerning the new Building Safety Bill as that legislation related specifically [at that time] to Higher Risk Residential Buildings over 18m which would be jointly enforced by the Service working as part of the new Building Safety Regulator (with HSE / Building Control). This was being developed and planned to receive Royal assent in April 2022 and be enabled in 2023.

#### Building Risk Review

Lancashire had 69 higher risk residential premises which had all been fully audited under the Building Risk Review process. In addition to reporting back to the National Fire Chiefs Council, Home Office and Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government on the make up of the external wall systems, the process had allowed inspectors to identify other aspects of fire safety non-compliance.

To date 6 premises in this height range have been identified as having noncompliant external wall systems; all have interim measures in place. A further 3 premises also implemented interim measures; not due to inadequacy of their external wall systems, but instead due to other serious fire safety noncompliance issues such as internal compartmentation breaches or smoke management system defects.

The Building Safety Bill would, in future, tightly define Higher Risk Residential Buildings (HRRBs) as all buildings (new and existing) that were at least 18 metres in height or had at least 7 storeys, and hade at least two residential units. The initial Building Risk Review (BRR) data set provided by the NFCC contained premises of 6 floors and above.

In Lancashire all residential premises 6 floors and above had been audited by LFRS Protection staff. This approach had been taken in order to quality assure the data and to ensure that none of the buildings that fell into the 18m or above

category were overlooked. It also ensured that risk information was gathered on buildings that fell into LFRS's operational definition of 'high-rise' (6 floors and above) as this allowed risk information to be captured and placed on mobile data terminals. As part of the process protection teams were also asked to identify any additional buildings of 6 floors and above which might have been omitted from the original data.

In line with future Building Safety Bill requirements (18 metres in height or at least 7 storeys) LFRS had identified 38 premises 'in-scope' for the future regulations. All 38 premises had been fully audited of which the full make up of the external wall system was known for 19 premises with reports awaited for the remaining 19 (resulting in 6 enforcement notices and 30 notifications of deficiencies, 1 received informal advice and 1 was satisfactory).

It was noted that Lancashire had 31 residential premises of 6 floors which had also been inspected as part of the initial building risk review of which the full make up of the external wall system was known for 2 premises with reports awaited for the remaining 29 (resulting in 3 enforcement notices and 25 notifications of deficiencies, 1 received informal advice and 2 were satisfactory).

Sub 18m residential tall buildings had not been targeted for audit primarily due to the scale of the housing stock below 18m, with the Service not yet having enforcement powers beyond the common areas and the ongoing developments in the guidance.

It was noted that the National Property Gazetteer indicated Lancashire currently had 2,226 purpose-built flats of 4 or 5 storeys and 7,715 of 3 storeys or less. However, in the past 3 years, inspectors had audited 79 premises of 4/5 storeys (resulting in 6 enforcement notices and 49 notifications of deficiencies) and 195 premises of 3 storeys or less (resulting in 10 enforcement notices and 137 notifications of deficiencies).

RESOLVED: - That the Committee noted the report.

## 19-20/21 <u>HER MAJESTY'S INSPECTORATE OF CONSTABULARY AND FIRE AND</u> <u>RESCUE SERVICES (HMICFRS) UPDATE</u>

The Assistant Chief Fire Officer advised that Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) inspection of the Service was due to be conducted in April/May 2020. This had been suspended due to the recall of staff within the HMICFRS returning to their own services to plan and manage the implications of the Covid-19 outbreak. The inspection was now scheduled for week commencing 22 November 2021.

In terms of preparations, the Organisational Assurance team had been liaising with departmental heads to ensure that ongoing work concerning items identified at the previous inspection had been prioritised effectively and demonstrable progress made.

A strategic brief was being developed and would be delivered during the first week of inspection. The narrative for this brief provided an opportunity to highlight distance travelled for areas that were identified as 'areas for development' from the previous inspection, as well as key areas of strength, potentially including some areas where the Service was demonstrating sector best practise.

The inspection itself would commence 22 November 2021, over six weeks in total, and was expected to be delivered using a hybrid approach i.e., some weeks would be in person and some elements delivered virtually. This had moved on from tranche one of the inspection process, which was completely virtual. After the conclusion of week four (week commencing 13 December), there would be a three-week break prior to recommencement for weeks five and six, from 10 January 2022. A debrief would be held in week eight.

The first tranche of inspections was due to be published early December 2021, along with the State of Fire and Rescue 2021 report. Tranche two reports, including Lancashire Fire and Rescue Service, were expected sometime in Summer 2022.

<u>RESOLVED</u>: - That the Committee noted and endorsed the report.

## 20-20/21 BLUE LIGHT COLLABORATION

The report was presented by the Assistant Chief Fire Officer.

It was noted that the formal meetings of the Blue Light Collaboration Board were put on hold during the pandemic to enable resources to be directed into priority areas supporting the NHS. As previously reported, there was an incredible amount of work between the 3 Blue Light Services delivered during this period. Collaborative efforts included:

- LFRS delivering face fitting of masks to assist North West Ambulance Service and the NHS.
- LFRS assisting in the establishment of a temporary mortuary.
- LFRS developing a policy and training for movement of bodies.
- LFRS coordinating logistics for vast quantities of PPE to be used in healthcare settings.
- LFRS working with partners to support the operation of mass vaccination sites and then gaining the capability for injecting vaccines.

As services moved from the emergency phase of the pandemic into recovery, there had been an opportunity to reconvene the Blue Light Collaboration Board meetings. There had been two meetings held recently, the first of which was primarily utilised to reflect upon the evaluation report that provided a review of the deliverables and benefits realised from collaboration work prior to the pandemic. This review and associated report were carried out by Shared Service Architecture consultants who were recognised by both the National Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC) and National Police Chiefs Council (NPCC) as sector leads. The second meeting was to start considering what items could be included in the next iteration of the work plan.

There was a further meeting planned towards the end of November to evaluate the ideas that had been put forward for the refreshed work plan. Furthermore, a communications item was being developed for each of the services to use to brief respective management teams internally. Following that, a presentation would be delivered to the executive level sponsors in a meeting scheduled for January 2022, where it was proposed the new workplan would be signed off and progressed. In response to a question raised by County Councillor Shedwick the Assistant Chief Fire Officer advised that emerging areas and opportunities were always considered by the Service (for example, the impact of climate change and the current development of a digital data strategy). He confirmed that he did not expect the new workplan to have the same scale and scope as the initial 31point plan.

In response to a question from Councillor Williams regarding the current national shortage of computer chips the Assistant Chief Fire Officer advised that there had been some delays as the pandemic had accelerated the purchase of more equipment and although this was identified as a risk register item the shortage had not yet had an impact on the Service.

In response to a question from the Committee Chairman regarding the provision of fire ports (as used in Canada), the Assistant Chief Fire Officer advised that the Authority had 2 boats deemed to be rescue boats which were used on inland water and there were also 6 swift water rescue teams. He advised that the CRMP detailed work that focussed on flooding and water rescue which aimed to maintain swift water rescue, flood rescue technicians and boat capability at strategic locations to address the growth seen and anticipated risks due to climate change.

<u>RESOLVED</u>: - That the report be noted and endorsed.

## 21-20/21 APPRENTICE FIREFIGHTER OFSTED NEW PROVIDER MONITORING VISIT

The Assistant Chief Fire Officer presented the report.

He advised that on 12 July 2021 the Service was notified by Ofsted that they would be undertaking their new provider monitoring Visit on 14 and 15 July. There were three HMI inspectors (one acting as an observer) who were based at Service Training Centre. They visited Operational Stations and met a number of staff from various departments over the two days. Ofsted published the monitoring visit main findings report on 26 August (attached to the report as appendix 1 and now considered by Members). The Service was judged as making 'reasonable progress' against three themes:

- How much progress have leaders made in ensuring that the provider is meeting all the requirements of successful apprenticeship provision? (leadership and management theme);
- What progress have leaders and managers made in ensuring that apprentices benefit from high-quality training that leads to positive outcomes for apprentices? (the 'coal face' learner experience theme);
- How much progress have leaders and managers made in ensuring that effective safeguarding arrangements are in place? (learners are safe theme).

The lead HMI praised the progress to date and was very complimentary of the people they interacted with during their visit saying that everyone clearly demonstrated the organisation's values and behaviours.

Following the visit key stakeholders met to discuss the feedback and learning. An action plan was developed on areas for further development, a number of those items have already been discharged as complete. Within the Training and Operational Review (TOR) department, Firefighter Apprentice progress was continually monitored, and a considerable amount of time and effort was placed on the delivery of this scheme. TOR worked alongside Service Delivery, Human Resources and Finance colleagues to ensure the Level 3 Operational Firefighter Apprenticeship was delivering high quality Firefighter Apprentices. The next Ofsted visit would be a full inspection expected to take place between 12 - 40 months.

Members were pleased with the support provided to young people and the Committee Chairman recommended that this excellent work be widely publicised.

<u>RESOLVED:</u> - That the Committee noted the report.

## 22-20/21 DATE OF NEXT MEETING

The next meeting of the Committee would be held on <u>Monday, 7 February 2022</u> at 1000 hours in Washington Hall, Service Training Centre, Euxton.

Further meeting dates were noted for 18 July 2022 and agreed for 21 November 2022.

## 23-20/21 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

<u>RESOLVED</u>: - That the press and members of the public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the following items of business on the grounds that there would be a likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the appropriate paragraph of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972, indicated under the heading to the item.

#### 24-20/21 DAY CREWING PLUS FUTURE

(Paragraphs 3 and 4)

Members discussed a report on the future of the day crewing plus shift system.

<u>RESOLVED</u>: - that the recommendations in the report be approved.

M NOLAN Clerk to CFA

LFRS HQ Fulwood